HISTORY OF ALL SAINTS
CHURCH - A UNIQUE COMPLEX

All Saints Boyne Hill is one of the finest examples of the early work of
the architect G. E. Street and was completed in 1857. The site is also
regarded by many as the premier architectural site in Maidenhead. The
unique complex consists of the Church surrounded on the south side by
the Old Vicarage, a school (which was converted to the Parish Centre in
1979), and 2 clergy houses. On the south western boundary is an
almshouse referred to in the following text.

Street was originally an assistant to Sir Gilbert Scott (1810-1877),
perhaps the most famous architect of the period. (English Church
Architecture, A Visual Guide, Mark Child, published by Batsford 1981).
Street was influenced by Italian styles and materials and he published
Brick and Marble Architecture of the Middle Ages in Italy in 1855. One of
the assistants in his practice was the designer and writer William Morris
who came to prominence slightly later in the period.

Boyne Hill was originally in the Parish of Bray (as indicated on a
milestone at the churchyard boundary on the Bath Road.) The Parish of
Bray stretched east to west from the outskirts of Windsor to Maidenhead
Thicket. It was the vision of the then Vicar the Revd. Austen Leigh to
make worship possible for those living furthest away from the Parish
Church of St. Michael in Bray. The actual site was chosen by the Bishop
of Oxford, Samuel Wilberforce, from a shortlist provided. The site was
generously given by Mr Charles Grenfell of Taplow and the benefactors
were Emily and Maria Hulme, spinster daughters of the Revd William
Hulme one time Vicar of Holy Trinity Reading. The ladies were desirous
of a Church to be built for “advanced religion” by which they meant the
Oxford Movement.

They also commissioned a house for themselves in Boyn Hill Avenue that
became part of the East Berkshire College. That house became Grade 2
listed shortly before the college site became a housing development
completed in 2015.The original house has been converted into 3 linked
homes and is visible from the eastern end of the site in Boyn Hill Avenue.
It is believed that the Hulme sisters never appeared to live in it but let it
to the Misses Lamotte referred to later. The Church was consecrated on
2nd December 1857 by Bishop Samuel Wilberforce and became the first
Ecclesiastical Parish in the Borough of Maidenhead.

Of the seven sacraments of the church the one most central to the design
of the building was the celebration of Holy Communion. The high altar
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and the sanctuary are the focal point for the congregation. The viewpoint
for the congregation is a large, stained glass east window; the central and
largest panel shows Christ on the Crucifix, and the surrounding panels
represent the events of Maundy Thursday, through the Crucifixion to
Easter. This window and others recall the medieval age of faith in their
classical design. The east wall is decorated in patterns of black enamel let
into stone and interspersed with coloured marble. (Church Guide Book;
now out of print). Behind the brass cross on the high altar is a discrete
(from a distance) but elaborately carved stone cross let into the wall
panel. In the north wall is a decorated Aumbrey, where the reserved
sacrament is kept (consecrated Bread and Wine used for sick visiting) and
a votive candle is always lit, as a sign of Christ’s presence in the
consecrated sacrament. In the south wall an arcade of three sedilia (seats)
is supported by polished marble columns. The roof of the Sanctuary is
highly decorated with alternate green and red decorated panels almost
certainly from a colourway of wallpaper designed by A W N Pugin c1845-
48 known as the ‘Gothic Sun’ pattern. (Gothic Revival, Megan Aldrich,
Phaidon Press, 1994 p228) The decoration of the chancel walls is
dominated by the use of polychromatic brick and highly glazed encaustic
tiles. Beneath this decoration is a continuation of the stencil effect in a
mediaeval style which is also seen in the nave roof. The choir stalls have
richly carved ends with the foliage of trees. In the north wall are four
panel glass panels of saints holding bibles. The floor is made from highly
glazed decorated tiles.

Worshippers would have received communion at the high altar kneeling at
an ornate, wrought iron rail. As they waited to go forward to receive the
sacrament the effect of the decoration around them would have
contributed to the sense of creating a little bit of heaven on earth. The
overall effect was surely intended to overwhelm the senses of sight, sound
from the choir and smell from the use of incense.

The choir is entered under a Gothic arch and separated from the nave by
wrought iron gates and a screen of Bath stone supported by more
decorative iron work and candles. The current choir divide is some five
feet forward of the original position. (Church Guide Book) The chancel
and sanctuary is approximately one third of the length of the original
church building; although the nave was subsequently extended in 1907.
The elevated position of the high altar is emphasised by a total of five
steps from the level of the nave. A striking feature in the nave are the 12
carved stone “Scenes of the Passion” the work of Thomas Earp who was
also responsible for the Pulpit and the large stone carving of the
Resurrection on the West End wall. The two blank tablets on the South
Wall in the extension were obviously intended for the last two Stations of



the Cross making up to the traditional 14 but these have never been
completed.

At the time the church was designed the only part of the service taken by
the priest in the nave would have been the sermon. The pulpit (left) is
decorated in keeping with the rest of the church by use of bath stone,
inlaid coloured marble and sculptured flowers. The brass lectern, an
outstretched eagle of massive proportions, would have had the approval of
the Ecclesiological Society.

In keeping with Tractarian churches, the nave was designed for all the
people with no segregation for different classes in contrast to the
conventional Protestant churches. The gothic archway into the chancel is
repeated along either side of the central aisle with four arches on either
side separating the side aisles. Above the stone arches the brick work
detail is clearly influenced by Street’s researches in Italy. (Gothic
Revival, Megan Aldrich, Phaidon Press, 1994, p183) The bench ends have
a discrete gothic theme moulding. The nave stained glass windows
continue a teaching theme. A striking feature of the nave is the use of
carved stone plaques to describe the 12 stations of the cross. The nave
roof is decorated in a mediaeval style stencil design in red and blue
between the timbers.

The west end window shows Christ enthroned in Majesty surrounded by
hosts of saints, apostles, martyrs and prophets. Under the window is a
large stone carved tableau of the resurrection. These features were in the
original building.

THE FONT

The font is close by the South Door and by position has the symbolism of
the entry to Christian life. The tower was built 9 years later and originally
separated from the nave; although incorporated when the nave was
extended.

As already mentioned the worshipper would have been drawn particularly
to the mystery of the celebration of the Holy Communion at the East end
of the church, but would have also been aware of the richness of
decoration, and colour throughout the building. Although no record is
believed to exist of the original organ, in contemporary times the building
is noted for its good acoustics and it is reasonable to assume that worship
through music was a feature of the original church life. Above the
archway into the chancel is the inscription “To the glory of God and in
memory of all his saints in one communion of love — Blessed are the pure



in heart for they shall see God”. As we can see, almost every element of
the design has a symbolic as well as practical function in fulfilling this
inscription.

The external appearance of the church incorporates the polychromatic
brickwork of the interior, and some use of stone. Some windows have
ornate brick arches similar in detail to illustrations taken from Street’s
book. This confirms the authenticity of the design consistent with features
of the Middle Ages in Italy.

To reinforce the Tractarian mission towards all of the people the complex
originally included a church school, which remained on the site for over
100 years. The architectural importance of the site is recognised by Grade
1 and Grade 2* listing as buildings of historic importance.

In 1858 through donation by Misses Lamotte, an almshouse designed by
Street was built on the boundary of the site for 6 needy ladies of the
parish over the age of 60. (In 1980s converted to 4 flats)

Source: Research by Mike Moss (1997) drawing on other authors as
quoted.
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